
Scrutiny Task and Finish  
Panel Agenda 

1 

 
 
 
 
Crime and Disorder Task and Finish Scrutiny Panel 
Tuesday, 27th June, 2006 
 
Place: Committee 1, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
  
Time: 7.30 pm 
  
Democratic Services 
Officer: 

A Hendry, Research and Democratic Services 
Email: ahendry@eppingforestdc.gov.uk Tel: 01992 564246 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors M Cohen (Chairman), M Woollard (Vice-Chairman), D Bateman, P Gode, 
Mrs A Grigg, Mrs A Haigh, D Jacobs, R Law, R Morgan, Mrs C Pond, P Spencer, D Stallan 
and J Wyatt 
 
 
 
 

 
PLEASE NOTE THAT THIS MEETING IS OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS TO ATTEND 

 
 

 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

 2. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)   
 

  (Head of Research and Democratic Services) To report the appointment of any 
substitute members for the meeting. 
 

 3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

  (Head of Research and Democratic Services). To declare interests in any items on the 
agenda. 
  
In considering whether to declare a personal or a prejudicial interest under the Code 
of Conduct, Overview & Scrutiny members are asked pay particular attention to 
paragraph 11 of the Code in addition to the more familiar requirements. 
  
This requires the declaration of a personal and prejudicial interest in any matter before 
an OS Committee which relates to a decision of or action by another Committee or 
Sub Committee of the Council, a Joint Committee or Joint Sub Committee in which the 
Council is involved and of which the Councillor is also a member. 
  
Paragraph 11 does not refer to Cabinet decisions or attendance at an OS meeting 

 



Crime and Disorder Task and Finish Scrutiny Panel Tuesday, 27 June 2006 
 

2 

purely for the purpose of answering questions or providing information on such a 
matter. 
 
 

 4. SCOPE OF THE REVIEW  (Pages 5 - 22) 
 

  Attached to this agenda is a copy of the proposals presented to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, which led to the setting up of this Panel.  However, Members now 
need to determine the scope of the study and produce a set of Terms of Reference, 
which reflect those objectives for approval by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
To this end a Task and Finish Planning Form is attached. 
  
In order to help the Panel, a set of ‘Notes for Guidance’ for the operating of a Task 
and Finish Panel is also attached. This sets out how a Task and Finish Panel should 
ideally go about scoping its programme of work, gathering information and evidence 
and finally reporting back to the main Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the larger 
Council. A draft layout for a final report is also attached. Please note that these are still 
in draft and may alter over the next few weeks, until endorsed by the July Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee meeting. 
 
 

 5. WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 23 - 58) 
 

  Having agreed the scope of the study and aims and objectives that the Panel hopes to 
achieve, it is necessary to agree a work programme to achieve the outcomes. A draft 
timetable should also be agreed. 
 
A review of the partnership provisions of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (CDA) was 
carried out by the Home Office, the Local Government Association (LGA), the 
Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) and the Association of Police Authorities 
(APA) between November 2004 and January 2005. Over 450 key stakeholders and 
practitioners attended four regional seminars held towards the end of 2004, and many 
more contributed through e-questionnaires and submissions. Representatives of key 
central Government departments were also involved. A report of the review's findings 
is attached. 
 
The Government’s overall objective in carrying out the review was to strengthen the 
visibility, responsiveness, membership and role of local partnerships. The aim is to 
make them the most effective possible vehicle for tackling crime, anti-social behaviour, 
behaviour adversely affecting the environment and substance misuse at a local level. 
 
Also attached is a document taken off the Crime Reduction Government website 
which answers the some of the more frequently asked questions and acts as a good 
background document to the Crime and Disorder Act Review. 
 
Outcomes and Timescale 
 
The Panel needs to give consideration to the outcomes it would like to achieve and 
identify probable end dates for the conclusion of the evidence gathering stage, the 
evaluation stage and the final report writing stage. 
 
 

 6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS   



Crime and Disorder Task and Finish Scrutiny Panel Tuesday, 27 June 2006 
 

3 

 
  Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972, together with paragraphs 6 and 

25 of the Council Procedure Rules contained in the Constitution require that the 
permission of the Chairman be obtained, after prior notice to the Chief Executive, 
before urgent business not specified in the agenda (including a supplementary agenda 
of which the statutory period of notice has been given) may be transacted. 
  
In accordance with Operational Standing Order 6 (non-executive bodies), any item 
raised by a non-member shall require the support of a member of the Committee 
concerned and the Chairman of that Committee. Two weeks’ notice of non-urgent 
items is required. 
 
 

 7. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   
 

  To be agreed. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Request by Member for Scrutiny Review 
 
 
 
 
 

Please complete the form below to request consideration of your issue by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
Proposers Name: 
 
John Scott 

Date of Request 
 
24 February 2006 

Supporting Councillors (if any): 
 
Councillor Mrs Pond. 
 
Summary of Issue you wish to be scrutinised: 
 
The Crime and Disorder Act review has been published by the Home Office. 
 
It contains important proposals about the strategic functions of CDRP’s particularly in 
two tier areas, these create greater responsibilities for the council itself and seeks to 
enhance the role of both the executive and back bench members. 
 
A Task and Finish panel could review the document, interview members of the CDRP 
and determine how the council should deal with the issues raised. 
 
 
 

NOTE: ENTRIES BELOW RELATE TO ISSUE CATEGORIES OF THE PICK 
PROCESS. PLEASE REFER TO THE EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THIS FORM 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION 
Public Interest Justification: 
 
Crime and fear of crime (including anti social behaviour) affect the lives of everyone 
in the community. The proposals in the review document seek to ensure that CDRP’s 
consult and engage with their communities on a regular and ongoing basis. The 
proposals seek to enhance the role of both Overview and Scrutiny and ward 
members in the process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



 
Impact on the social, economic and environmental well-being of the area: 
 
The work of the CDRP touches on all these areas. Only recently the council has 
agreed to increase its contributions to graffiti removal. There is more the council can 
do but these actions need to be agreed with others. The CDRP is made up of a 
range of partners, some of whom are described as responsible authorities who must 
participate and some participation via invitation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Council Performance in this area (if known: Red, Amber, Green): 
 
There are Best Value performance indicators which show a mixed level of 
performance. However those  cover issues which the council alone is unable to 
influence. The outcomes depend on the efforts of a whole range of partnerships. The 
review document puts greater responsibilities on the council for Overview and 
Review of these matters. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Keep in Context (are other reviews taking place in this area?) 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Office Use: 
Pick score:  Considered By OSCC: 
 

Page 6



 
Request by Member for Scrutiny Review 

 
 
 
 
 

Please complete the form below to request consideration of your issue by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
Proposers Name: 
 
Simon F FORD 

Date of Request 
 
1st March 2006 

Supporting Councillors (if any): 
 
 
 
Summary of Issue you wish to be scrutinised: 
 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 – Government Review and Recommendations 
2006. 
 
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 introduced statutory legislation in respect of a 
partnership approach to tackling crime and disorder. Part of the requirement of the 
Act required Responsible Authority Groups to produce and publish three yearly crime 
reduction strategies as a means of informing local communities how the ‘Partnership’ 
or CDRP intended to tackle crime and disorder. Each strategy was reliant of two 
factors – a wide reaching crime audit of the District and substantive public 
consultation exercise.  
 
The Act has now been effective for over seven years. EFDC have adhered to its 
partnership responsibilities exceptionally well – driving forward and leading on 
strategic crime reduction programmes.  
 
The Government recently published a summary of findings following a review of 
CDRP’s , crime reduction work and accountability. The findings are likely to be given 
Royal Assent in the Autumn. A number of issues from that report need to be 
addressed  - and will impact on the Council’s community safety activities.  
 
In the first instance communities will be able to evoke a ‘Community Call for Action’ 
when they feel that agencies are not responding to community safety concerns within 
an area. Ward Councillors will facilitate action – representing the community – and 
tabling the concerns before Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be given more responsibility – and ‘Scrutiny 
Plus’ Committees will be introduced. They will be able to hold to account other 
‘partnership’ agencies such as the Police, and hear out community concerns.  
 
In a balance of accountability, Scrutiny Plus Committees will include other authority 
membership, such as the local Police Authority.  
 
Furthermore, the review recommends that Community  Well-Being Portfolio Holders 
will be asked to sit on both the Local Strategic Partnership group, and the CDRP – 
enabling and facilitating cross linked community safety work, and ensuring crime 
reduction aims are embedded within overall council plans and policy/performance 

Page 7



 
A summary of the key findings is attached to this report. 
 
RESPECT agenda 
 
The Government recently unveiled its new Respect agenda – aimed at addressing 
unacceptable behaviour in the community. A detailed action plan has been published  
- and a range of existing powers have been extended. It is likely that local authorities 
will play a key role with regard to its implementation, key areas that are being 
highlighted include: 
 
 Parenting (poor parenting skills, weak child/parent relationships, and parental 
involvement in crime and ASB) 
 
School (truancy and exclusion, and schools where poor behaviour is not challenged) 
 
Community factors (deprived areas where disorder and neglect present, peer 
involvement in ASB) 
 
Individual factors (drug and alcohol misuse – early involvement in ASB).  
 
These proposals are currently undergoing review and comments. Further information 
from the Centre at this stage is not forthcoming, but a national network of projects 
and support is likely to be the driving force around the implementation of the Action 
Plan. 
 
Single Non Emergency Number (SNEN) 
 
The Government intend to provide the public with a three digit number (101), 
separate from 999 – for non emergency services from community safety partners: 
police and local authorities. It has been said that this will improve public access to 
such services and help police forces and local authorities achieve a more 
coordinated response. Importantly, it would take the pressure off the 999 service, 
allowing it to become more responsive and efficient as well. 
 
The Home Office has launched a programme to enable police forces and their local 
authority partners to put such a service in place. Current plans are for the service to 
be introduced right across England and Wales in three waves. The first wave is 
underway, the next two waves will rollout by 2008 – achieving core SNEN national 
coverage. Core service cover will include: 
 
Vandalism / Graffiti 
Noisy Neighbours 
Intimidation / Harassment 
Abandoned Vehicles 
Rubbish 
Drunkenness 
ASB 
Drug dealing 
Street Lighting. 
 
This will naturally impact on Council policy. Furthermore how will this fit in with the 
Call Centre proposals? 
 
Local Authority Agreements (LAA) 

Page 8



 
LAA’s will start being implemented throughout Essex come April 1st.  Under the Safer 
Stronger Block – three key priorities have to be addressed by partnerships and 
relevant organisations: 
 
Priority 8  - Keep vulnerable children and young people safe 
Priority 10 – Reduce Crime and fear of crime 
Priority 11 – Build RESPECT in communities and reduce ASB. 
 
Targets have been set in respect of each priority. Performance and progress will be 
measured by ECC. CDRP funding will be adjusted 06/07 to take heed of the LAA 
agenda (25% of Home Office fund must be spent on the priorities above). 
 
This is will strategically cross both the LSP and CDRP agendas, and again the 
Portfolio Holder is likely to play a key role with regard to cross linked work.  
 
Other 
 

• Last year Cabinet Members agreed to support a joint Police / Council 
Community Safety Team – based within the District Council Offices. Since 
that time, due to difficulties around office space, the project has been slow to 
progress. Is suitable space able to be found in order to house such a team? 

• Secondly, if a joint team does not come to fruitition, it is vital that the Council’s 
Crime Reduction Team are moved to suitable accommodation where the risk 
of sensitive data, and the day to day activities of the team can be conducted 
in a more secure environment. 

• Graffiti is costing the Council more and more each year. It would be far more 
cost effective to employ personnel to remove graffiti than to continue to pay 
the increasing cost of external contractors. A report is due to go before 
cabinet shortly 

• Resources. If the Council takes part in an active leading role in respect of the 
forthcoming agendas as tabled in this report, consideration must be given to 
the current resources and staff available to deliver the proposals.  

 
  
 
 

NOTE: ENTRIES BELOW RELATE TO ISSUE CATEGORIES OF THE PICK 
PROCESS. PLEASE REFER TO THE EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THIS FORM 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION 
Public Interest Justification: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



Impact on the social, economic and environmental well-being of the area: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Council Performance in this area (if known: Red, Amber, Green): 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Keep in Context (are other reviews taking place in this area?) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Office Use: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
Key Findings from CDRP Review – RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

(summary of recommendations as set out by Home Office review of Partnership 
Provisions of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
• CDRP decision responsibilities. Strategic implementation to be 

incorporated into LSP. In 2 tier authorities, County to have role iro strategic 
CDRP policy. (ie through the LAA process) 

 
• National Standards to be introduced right across the board iro CDRP 

strategic and operational roles. As defined below: 
 

• Intelligence led problem solving – multi agency – partnership. To be based 
on victim, crime, offender data. CDRP’s to adopt NIM (national intelligence 
model) 

 
• Strategic Intelligence Assessments (SIA’s) to be conducted every 6 

months – replacing 3 year audits. Assessments to be based on NIM data 
 

• SIA’s will inform the new requirement to produce annual rolling 3 year 
strategies – in response to crime patterns / trends, ASB etc. Strategies to link 
in with policing plans, CYPSP plans, LAA plans.  

 
• SEC 115 C and D Act 1998 to be strengthened to improve information share. 

National Standards to insist partnerships have sharing protocols in place 
 

• Consultations to continue with community including joint tasking, 
coordination groups, deployment influence, problem solving – and influencing 
reparation work.  

 
• Regular reports back to community- replacing the current practice of feeding 

back audits/strategies/reports to Home Office. National Standard requirement. 
Community reports to be performance orientated.  

 
• Overview and Scrutiny Committees to encompass CDRP’s and have a 

‘scrutiny plus’ practice, ie able to hold other agencies to account iro CDRP 
work / community safety responsibility. BCU Commanders to be held 
accountable to O and S committees. (Although committees will be balanced 
by having police and other agency representation on them) 

 
• ‘Community Call For Action’ will be introduced as a mechanism for 

triggering action where communities can secure a response from partners to 
particular community safety issues. Scrutiny committees to oversee through 
liason with ward councillors 

 
• S.17 of C and D Act to be revised. Secondary legislation to be introduced to 

include new agencies on the S.17 list (expanding from RAG authorities and 
Parish and Town Councils…) 

 
• Under Respect Action Plan – CDRP’s to ‘face the people’, again under the 

new National Standards 
 

Page 11



• Portfolio Holder for community safety to sit on LSP’s in order to link in with 
council plans, policy and leadership.  

 
• CDRP mergers where possible (largely dependant on size of Districts) 

 
• Renaming of english CDRP’s to reflect the widening agenda in respect of 

communities, fear of crime, victims, risk groups, people etc….not just about 
crime reduction.. 

 
These recommendations are likely to be given Royal Assent in Autumn 2006. In the 
meantime government bodies will be working with stakeholders to develop National 
Standards. Implementation of the measures will commence post Autumn.  
 
It is important to note how EF CDRP will adopt these new measures and combine 
them with other key changes commencing this year including -  Neighbourhood 
Policing, the Respect Action Plan, the Single Non Emergency Number (SNEN) and 
the LAA implementation process.  
 
Recommendations will form an agenda item at both the next Coordinating Group and 
CDRP meetings. 
 
Simon Ford 
January 2006 
 

Page 12



TASK AND FINISH PANEL PLANNING FORM: 

Term of Reference: 

Aims and Objectives of Review: 
 

Page 13



TASK AND FINISH PANEL PLANNING FORM: 

Key Issues: 

TIMESCALE ESTIMATED ACTUAL 

Commencement   

Finish 
  

Report. 
  

 

Page 14



 
 

TASK AND FINISH PANELS GUIDANCE NOTES 
 
Introduction 
 
1. Task and Finish Scrutiny Panels are established by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
order to deal with ad hoc projects or reviews included in the annual work programme for Overview 
and Scrutiny. 
 
2. Task and Finish Scrutiny Panel status will be restricted to those activities which are issue-
based, time limited and non-cyclical in character and have clearly defined objectives. 
 
3.  Task and Finish Panels as with all Overview and Scrutiny must be member led. The 
members should control the agenda and have ownership of the work programme. 
 
Scoping Phase 
 
4. (Pre Scoping) Before their first meeting with the Chairman, the Lead Officer should hold an 
informal meeting with any officers may be connected to the topic to be reviewed to try and establish 
any and all issues related to the topic, so that that the Lead Officer on meeting with the Chairman, 
has some background information to put to them. 
 
5. (Scoping) At the start of a Task and Finish Panel the Lead Officer will draft the Terms of 
Reference in conjunction with the Chairman of the Panel. The Panel will then meet to discuss the 
Terms of References and decide how they are to achieve their goals. An emphasis must be put on 
clear and realistic objectives, which are timely and time limited. 
 
 
6.  Terms of Reference and objectives should, if at all possible, be defined using the SMART 
objective framework: 
 

Specific Measurable Achievable Realistic Time Limited 
 
 
7. The life cycle of a Task and Finish Panel will look like this: 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Creation of 
Panel 

Objective
Setting 

Investigation 

Evaluation and 
Review 

ConclusionReport / 
Recommendations 

Page 15



 
Investigation Phase 
 
8.  Before any conclusions can be drawn, evidence must first be gathered. All available sources 
must be tapped, making the most of the expertise within the Council, any outside organisations and 
public opinion if applicable. 
 
9. The investigation phase can be handled as a full group review or as a ‘delegated tasks’ 
approach, with individual members or small sub groups, gathering evidence to bring back to the full 
Panel. 
 
10.  Any reports by officers to a Task and Finish panel should provide relevant evidence and 
background but should not make any recommendations. They should be done in an informal style, 
and not mirror the house Cabinet, Portfolio Holder style of reports. 
 
11. If thought necessary outside bodies should be involved in the evidence gathering phase, 
either by inviting that organisation to give a one off presentation or by co-opting an outside member 
onto the Panel as an adviser for the duration of the Panel’s life. 
 
12. Creativity and imagination should be used in gathering evidence. Ways can and should be 
found of getting the views of groups who may be overlooked. Perhaps the review should be 
publicised and contributions invited, the use of community venues encouraged and feedback 
provided to participants. 
 
Witnesses and Questioning 
 
13. When questioning witnesses, questions should be kept brief, clear and to the point. Start 
with broad questions first and then narrow down the focus. Remember to use ‘follow ups’ to obtain a 
clearer explanation. The use of pre-meetings could be used to organise the Panels approach to the 
questioning of ‘witnesses’ and to get the most out of the session. 
 
14. Remember the panel is not there to trip people up, “grill” them, apportion blame or to make 
their life difficult. Rather it is to understand the issues affecting the topic under review and how it 
affects the District Council and its residents. 
 
Gathering Evidence 
 
15. Methods of evidence gathering should be systematic and objective as possible, not just 
anecdotal. Use a variety of approaches and not just rely on a single source. Some different ways 
that evidence could be gathered are: 
 

• Statistical Surveys; 
• Focus Groups and Workshops; 
• Public Meetings; 
• Self-advocacy groups; 
• Street surveys; 
• Site visits; 
• Mystery Shopping. 
 

Panel members should carry out these tasks, design the survey forms or prepare the questionnaires 
themselves. Officers are to be used in an advisory capacity only. 
 
 

Page 16



Report and Follow-up 
 
16. The concluding report will need to be clear, concise, evidence based with illustrative 
anecdotes. All the evidence gathered should be listed and if thought appropriate summarised. There 
will need to be clear, realistic and specific recommendations formulated so that progress can be 
measured and followed up. The report should (wherever practicable) ask for responses to its’ 
recommendations within a realistic time period. (A draft format of a Task and Finish report is 
attached.) 
 
17. The report should, if thought appropriate, be promoted to the public, e.g. through a press 
release and/or publicised via our website. 
 
18. A mini-review of outcomes should be carried out after an appropriate period (not later than 
six months (if appropriate) after the end of the review). The results of this review should be reported 
back to the main Overview and Scrutiny Committee. It should be noted, that the entire Panel should 
not be involved in this follow-up review. The Chairman on his/her own or a small sub-group of two or 
three members would be enough. They can provide the full panel with a short written report on their 
findings if necessary; otherwise a verbal report would suffice. 
 
 
 
 
 
Democratic Services 
June 2006 
                                     

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REPORT OF THE TRAVELLERS TASK AND FINISH 
PANEL 

 
 
 

JULY 2006 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact for enquiries: 
John Gilbert, Lead Officer 
Epping Forest District Council, Civic Offices 
Epping, CM16 4BZ 
jgilbert@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 
01992 56 4062 

Page 19



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 2

CONTENTS 
 

  Page 
1. Chairman’s Forward 3 

2. Introduction or Overview 4 

3. Context 5 

4. Summary of Recommendations 6 

5. Report 7 

6. Conclusions 8 

7. Acknowledgements 9 

8. Appendix 1 10 

 Appendix 2 11 
 
 

• Make the contents table lines invisible 
 

• Each section to start on its own page 
 

• The addition of photographs always make a report more reader friendly and a document 
more professional looking. 

 
• It may be argued that the introduction and context section could be put under one heading. 

Splitting up theses headings helps to keep the report in small chunks, making it easily 
readable and more accessible. 

 
• The same applies for keeping the recommendations separate from the main body of the 

report. 
 
• If needed more section headings can be added. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



1. Chairman’s Forward 
 

Setting out briefly what the panel was tasked to look at, and how the panel went about it. 
 
The Chairman can use this section to give any personal thanks to the people and organisations 
consulted. 
 
This should take up about one side of A4. 
 
 
 

2. Introduction or Overview 
 
This section sets out the formal terms of reference for the panel, who they consulted and how they 
went about gathering the evidence (i.e. by interview, site visits, questions to organisations, 
questionnaires etc.). This will be a more detailed explanation that’s in the Chairman’s forward. 
 
If pertinent it should set out why the Panel did not look at some aspect of the topic they were 
charged to look at. 
 
 

3. Context 
 
Background to the topic under review – how Government Policy fits in, any relevant legal 
considerations any laws (European or domestic).  
 
How the Council’s policies are affected (if at all) or how EFDCs geographical area fits in (local 
context) and any other local considerations that were taken into account. 
 
 

4. Summary of Recommendations 
 
 
The Panels recommendations should be listed out here. If there are enough recommendations it 
could be divided into sections, each relating to different section of the report. 
 
Recommendations should begin: “The Panel recommends that….” 
 
 
 

5. Report 
 
 
This section will detail the evidence gathered and the conclusions reached. This should be related 
to the recommendations made in the summary of recommendations. 
 
Start with a general introduction (if thought useful) and then repeat each recommendation adding an 
explanation as to why that recommendation was made, citing any evidence gathered and the 
conclusions drawn. In order to meet legal requirements, if the recommendations are to go on to 
Cabinet or Council for action, the report should indicated any options that were considered and 
rejected and reasons why. 
 
 

Page 21



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 4

 
6. Conclusion 

 
Very short version of report for busy people – maybe with an eye for putting this bit out as a press 
release. 
 

7. Acknowledgements 
 
To give formal acknowledgement to any sources used e.g: 
Organisations; 
People; 
Officers; 
Experts; 
Websites; 
Laws; 
Locations visited; 
Council policies etc. 
 
 
 

8. Appendices 
 
 
If needed to add background information, tables, graphs etc. 

Page 22



 

 1

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
REVIEW OF THE PARTNERSHIP 
PROVISIONS OF THE CRIME AND 
DISORDER ACT 1998 – REPORT OF 
FINDINGS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 23



 

 2

Executive Summary  
The Government announced a review of the partnership provisions of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 in the police reform White Paper - Building 
Communities, Beating Crime - in November 2004. The review was conducted 
jointly by the representative bodies of all the agencies with responsible 
authority status on CDRPs/CSPs, and included input via regional workshops 
from well over 400 practitioners and other stakeholders. Representatives of 
other key central Government departments were also involved. 
 
The partnership landscape has changed substantially since CDRPs and 
CSPs were first created in 1998, this coupled with the introduction of Local 
Area Agreements and the changing role of local government presents new 
challenges for CDRPs and CSPs.  Changes in the Criminal Justice System 
and the delivery of the police reform agenda will also impact on how 
CDRPs/CSPs do business. The review, therefore, was a timely piece of work 
that will help ensure all CDRPs/CSPs are in a good position to adapt to a 
changing delivery landscape and take on any new challenges.    
 
We have broken our proposals down under five main headings – Structures, 
Delivery, Governance and Accountability, Mainstreaming and National 
Standards. 
  
Structures 
The geographical disconnection between CDRPs and other key partner 
agencies such as LCJBs and DAATs in two-tier areas does not aid successful 
partnership working. The review proposed splitting the strategic and 
operational decision making responsibilities of CDRPs, with the former sitting 
at county level. The benefits to CDRP/CSP performance of splitting their 
strategic and operational functions are such that we believe that this approach 
should be adopted by all CDRPs/CSPs, not just those in two-tier areas. Given 
the important role that CDRPs will play in delivering the Safer and Stronger 
Communities block of the LAAs, we have concluded that CDRPs’ strategic 
functions should rest at Local Strategic Partnership level.    
 
In order for a CDRP’s strategic and operational functions to be discharged 
successfully, the right people need to be at the partnership table. Although we 
do not want to dictate who should represent the individual agencies at a local 
level, the review has highlighted how important it is that those attending 
partnership meetings have the seniority to take decisions and commit 
resources on behalf of their organisation. We will be developing national 
standards for partnership working that amongst other things will outline the 
role and responsibilities of each partner in helping to deliver community 
safety. 
 
In order to ensure that CDRPs are better equipped to deal with the rapidly 
changing partnership landscape, the Home Secretary wishes to take a power 
to extend the list of responsible authorities by means of secondary legislation.  
   
 
 

Page 24



 

 3

Delivery 
Intelligence led decision making lies at the heart of effective delivery. We want 
every CDRP/CSP to undertake an intelligence led, problem-solving and 
outcome orientated approach to community safety. We believe the police 
National Intelligence Model provides a good practice framework for routinely 
analysing data and intelligence to inform strategic direction, accurately direct 
resources and manage risk. We will be adapting many of the principles and 
practices behind NIM to a partnership setting.  
 
Strategic intelligence assessments will have to be undertaken at least on a 
six-monthly basis and they will have to be used by all those discharging 
strategic and operational community safety functions. This will replace the 
three yearly audits currently being undertaken by CDRPs/CSPs.  
 
The six-monthly strategic intelligence assessments will inform the new 
requirement to produce annual rolling three year community safety plans. 
Many CDRPs/CSPs already review their three year strategies on an annual 
basis in response to shifting patterns of crime, anti-social behaviour and 
substance misuse. Repealing the requirement for triennial strategies will 
reflect the good practice already implemented by many CDRPs.  
 
Effective community safety plans will be heavily dependent on the quality of 
the strategic intelligence assessments being produced by analysts and this in 
turn will be reliant on good information sharing amongst partner agencies. To 
this end, we intend to strengthen section 115 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998 (CDA) and place a duty on responsible authorities to share 
depersonalised data which are relevant for community safety purposes. We 
will also make it clear through national standards how vital it is for every 
partnership to have an effective information sharing protocol in place to assist 
this process.  
 
Governance and Accountability 
Community safety matters greatly to local people and CDRPs play a crucial 
role in delivering this for local communities. Therefore, it is important that 
CDRPs should be both more visible to the communities they serve, and more 
accountable to them.  
 
We will ensure that CDRPs continue to engage with local people and actively 
encourage and empower them to be involved in improving their quality of life. 
The Crime and Disorder Act required CDRPs to consult with a range of local 
agencies and people on the findings of their three year audits. We intend to 
continue this good practice by ensuring that within the NIM framework 
mentioned above, CDRPs/CSPs provide regular opportunities for local people 
to raise their concerns and provide valuable community intelligence.   
 
We will no longer require CDRPs/CSPs to provide the Home Secretary with 
annual reports on the implementation of their three year strategies, but 
instead we want CDRPs to produce regular reports to their communities. It is 
essential that local people help inform decisions over local community safety 

Page 25



 

 4

priorities and are able to see how the partnership is performing in order to 
hold it to account.  
 
We will be extending the powers of local authority Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees to encompass the work of CDRPs/CSPs. A form of ‘scrutiny plus’ 
involving the partner agencies will allow scrutiny committees better to reflect 
the multi-agency nature of community safety work. In addition, we will be 
introducing a mechanism for triggering action whereby communities will be 
able to secure a response from partners to a particular community safety 
issue that has not been adequately addressed. The local ward councillor will 
play a key role in securing a response but the local authority scrutiny 
committee will be used to look at cases that cannot be easily resolved.  
 
Local councillors will act as the conduit at neighbourhood level for relaying 
local concerns to community safety partners and encouraging local people to 
get involved in local governance. Our national standards will also reflect our 
desire to build on the active involvement of elected community safety portfolio 
holders in the strategic community safety decision making processes. 
 
Mainstreaming and National Standards 
Section 17 of the CDA has worked on the rationale that the socio-economic 
and environmental causes of crime and disorder can be impacted on by a 
range of agencies working in the locality and therefore they should regularly 
consider this in all their operational and strategic delivery decisions. This is 
still immensely relevant but we believe that the time has come formally to 
broaden the definition of s17 to require agencies to also take account of anti-
social behaviour, behaviour adversely affecting the environment and 
substance misuse. In addition, the Home Secretary intends to take a power to 
add to the list of agencies to which section 17 applies by means of secondary 
legislation.  
 
The guidance that accompanied the CDA in 1998 was intended to provide a 
framework within which agencies could decide how they best worked together 
at a local level to deliver on community safety. We still believe in this localised 
approach but as the review has underlined, during the past eight years it has 
become apparent that there is a need for a set of standards that clearly sets 
out what is expected of each partnership and the roles and responsibilities of 
the individual partners, whilst at the same time not prescribing how they meet 
these standards. National standards will establish a consistent approach to 
partnership working across all CDRPs/CSPs in England and Wales. 
Compliance with these national standards will be compulsory and will cover a 
range of key issues which have been addressed in these findings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

 5

1 – INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 put Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships (CDRPs) (now known as Community Safety Partnerships – 
CSPs – in Wales) on a statutory footing for the first time.  The Act required 
Local Authorities and the police to come together to review the pattern and 
extent of crime and disorder in their local area and to implement a strategy for 
tackling these issues. This legislation was widely welcomed at the time, and is 
generally believed to have led to real local successes in tackling the problems 
of crime, disorder, substance misuse and anti-social behaviour that still blight 
far too many people’s lives. However, it is clear that some CDRPs/CSPs have 
achieved significantly better results for their communities than others, and we 
felt that it was important to understand the reasons for this. That is why we 
announced in the police reform White Paper in November 2004 - ‘Building 
Communities, Beating Crime’ a review of the partnership provisions of the 
1998 Act, as amended by the Police Reform Act 2002. 
 
1.2     The review was conducted jointly by the representative bodies of all the 
agencies with responsible authority status on CDRPs/CSPs, and included 
input via regional workshops from well over 400 practitioners and other 
stakeholders. Representatives of other key central Government departments 
were also involved. This report draws heavily on the original review team’s 
recommendations, whilst also reflecting the wider context of developments 
that will impact upon community safety such as the roll out of Local Area 
Agreements, the Home Office’s own proposals for restructuring the police 
service, and the debate stimulated recently by ODPM on the future of local 
government.  Where what we are proposing in this document departs from the 
review’s original position, we say so and explain the reasons for the change. 
 
1.3     We have broken our proposals down under five main headings – 
Structures, Delivery, Governance and Accountability, Mainstreaming and 
National Standards. These reflect quite neatly the themes and issues which 
emerged during the review.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 

 6

2 – STRUCTURES 
 
The growth in the number of partnerships at local level and the increasingly 
complex delivery landscape present significant challenges for CDRPs/CSPs.  
This section looks at the following issues: 
 
• The role of CDRPs/CSPs within the local delivery landscape 
• How CDRPs/CSPs manage the complexity of that landscape 
• Getting the right people around the partnership table 
 

 
The role of CDRPs/CSPs 
 
2.1 The 1998 Act placed an unambiguous duty on local authorities and the 
police to work together to identify the pattern of crime and disorder in their 
area and implement strategies for tackling these problems.  Subsequent 
changes have: 
 

- extended CDRPs’ duties to include tackling the misuse of drugs, and 
anti-social behaviour1; 

- led to the merger in many parts of the country of CDRPs with Drug 
Action Teams. Full integration has taken place in Wales;  

- provided the Secretary of State with the power to make an order to 
merge two or more CDRPs as long as he considers it to be in the 
interest of reducing crime and disorder, or of combating the misuse of 
drugs, to make the order; and  

- widened the “responsible authority” family to include police authorities, 
fire and rescue authorities and primary care trusts.  

 
2.2 However, there are far more partnerships operating locally now than 
was the case in 1998 and this, coupled with some other major developments 
such as the advent of Local Area Agreements (LAAs) means that CDRPs face 
some complex questions now about who they need to engage with, on what, 
and how. These were not questions which had quite the same complexity 
when CDRPs were created, and answers to them are needed now if 
partnerships are to operate at maximum efficiency.  
 
Context 
 
2.3 The Government started the local vision debate in 2004 with local 
government and other stakeholders. It is leading the development of a 
Government wide strategy for the future of local government.  The debate has 
so far generated productive ideas, on local leadership, neighbourhoods and 

                                                 
1 Section 1 of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 stated that the CDA 1998 shall be amended as 

follows: In section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (c. 37) (formulation and implementation of crime and 

disorder reduction strategies), in subsection (2)(a) (reviews), in each of sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) after "crime and 

disorder in the area" insert "(including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment)". 

Page 28



 

 7

the performance framework. Through the local vision debate, the Government 
seeks to: 

− understand what the strategic role and function of local government 
should be (in the future) - given prevailing trends in government 
policy and changes in society (e.g. expectations, demography and 
technology); and 

 

− build consensus for that new role across local, regional and central 
government, and other partners working to govern and deliver in 
local areas.  

 
No decisions have been taken about whether or not in some way to go for a 
reorganisation of the two-tier structure in local government but consideration 
of local government structures is part of this wider debate about governance 
in the 21st century.   The Government has sought views on whether there is a 
need for single tier local government; any change in local government 
structure will follow and need to be consistent with the changes that are 
currently being discussed in health and community safety.   
 
2.4  On 8 December, the Government set out its vision for the role of local 
government within this complex partnership landscape in its consultation 
paper on the future development of Local Strategic Partnerships (LSPs) in 
England, ‘Local Strategic Partnerships: Shaping their future’. As that paper 
says, we see LSPs as the ‘partnership of partnerships’ within a local area 
‘ensuring that the lines of responsibility between partners and partnerships 
are clearly drawn and that duplication is avoided.’  CDRPs have a vital role 
within this family of partnerships at local level, maintaining a focus on their 
primary function to tackle crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour and 
substance misuse but also influencing and being influenced by the area’s 
Sustainable Community Strategy.  A number of LSPs and CDRPs have 
already begun to work in this way, with the CDRP operating as a thematic 
sub-group of the LSP, and by aligning their three-year crime and disorder 
reduction strategy to the wider community strategy. 
 
2.5 This new way of working is of course being brought into much sharper 
focus with the introduction of Local Area Agreements which are being rolled 
out across all top tier authorities in England from 2007/08.   Safer and 
Stronger Communities is one of four blocks within Local Area Agreements.  
These developments are intended to strengthen partnerships and reduce the 
bureaucratic burden on them. They represent a new relationship between 
central and local government where funding is linked to the outcomes that 
areas, in consultation with their communities, want to achieve. LAAs and 
LSPs do not apply in Wales, so CSPs are unaffected by these initiatives.  
 
2.6 The delivery landscape within which CDRPs/CSPs operate is also 
influenced by the Criminal Justice System, and the emerging picture on police 
reform.  In April 2003, Local Criminal Justice Boards (LCJBs) were introduced 
to deliver the Government’s priorities for the CJS; improving the delivery of 
justice, improving the service provided to witnesses and securing public 

Page 29



 

 8

confidence in the criminal justice system.  LCJB partnerships consist of the 
Chief Officers of Police, Crown Prosecution Service, Magistrates and Crown 
Courts, Youth Offending Teams, Probation and Prison service.  
 
2.7 CDRPs and LCJBs have distinct roles and responsibilities. However, 
preventing and reducing crime and the efficient operation of the criminal 
justice system need to be seen as a continuum of activity by CJS and 
community safety agencies.  The agencies working along this continuum need 
to engage closely with one another at the points where their agendas overlap 
or interface in order to provide a service to the public that reflects their 
priorities and concerns.  Increasingly therefore, CDRPs and LCJBs are finding 
that they need to join up mutual areas of interest particularly issues such as 
domestic violence and the Prolific and Other Priority Offenders strategy.  In 
response to this changing environment, the Home Office and Office for 
Criminal Justice Reform has recently published a document entitled ‘CDRPs 
(CSPs) and LCJBs: How to work together’ for both partnerships and boards to 
help them to work more closely together when it makes sense for them to do 
so.    
 
2.8 The second wave of police reform will also have major implications for 
partnership working at CDRP level.  We have set a very challenging timescale 
for police forces and authorities to submit options for restructuring in order to 
achieve the establishment of strategic forces which we believe is the best long 
term business solution for the police service.  We are also convinced that co-
terminosity between CDRPs and police force Basic Command Units needs to 
be achieved nationally in order to maximise the enormous benefits for 
partnership working that flow from co-terminous boundaries between police 
and local authorities.   
 
 
Reducing the number of partnerships 
 
2.9     One way to simplify a crowded delivery landscape is to take the 
opportunity, wherever possible, to reduce the total number of partnerships. 
This is obviously not as simple as it sounds, however, and should only be 
done where it is clear that the result will benefit local communities by 
facilitating the delivery of better outcomes for them, whilst maintaining local 
focus. We have looked at whether, for example, there is a case in two-tier 
areas for simply creating one CDRP at county level, rather than having one 
per district as now. While that might be bureaucratically tidy, however, we 
have ruled this and similar options out on the grounds that they would make 
CDRPs too remote from the communities they serve, and be out of step with, 
for example, the Government’s localism agenda and the neighbourhood 
policing initiative. Nonetheless, that is not to say that nothing can be done. 
 
2.10     The first thing that we wish to do is to take a much more active role in 
encouraging CDRP mergers.  The demands of community safety work, and 
the complex environment within which this work is undertaken, mean that all 
too often, smaller CDRPs lack the critical mass and infrastructure they need.  
The benefits of merger – economies of scale, and significantly greater 

Page 30



 

 9

capacity to plan and undertake delivery of what their communities need in 
terms of community safety – are considerable.  Underlining this message, the 
National Audit Office2 commented in a report in December 2004 that smaller 
neighbouring partnerships should be encouraged to collaborate more closely, 
for example by sharing resources or where appropriate by merging in order to 
build up greater levels of expertise and resources to tackle crime. The NAO 
drew particular attention in this context to their finding that those crime 
reduction projects most ‘unlikely to lead to a demonstrable reduction in crime’ 
were those which were small scale and low cost.   
 
2.11 Increasing the number of merged CDRPs will also facilitate greater co-
terminosity across agency boundaries, particularly with the Basic Command 
Unit structure that operates within police force areas and with Primary Care 
Trusts which are increasingly being aligned with county council boundaries in 
two-tier areas. 
 
2.12 The power to merge CDRP areas already exists in statute3  but we are 
not at this stage thinking of compelling mergers. We will, however, be asking 
the Government Offices for the Regions (GOs) to work with local partnerships 
to assess the case for mergers in their areas, against some criteria that we 
will be developing over the coming months. In taking this work forward, we will 
be working closely with ODPM as well as with regional and local partners to 
ensure that we do not end up with merged CDRP boundaries which are out of 
step with the likely future structure of local government itself.  
 
2.13    Another way of reducing the number of partnerships is to push for 
further integration in England of CDRPs and DATs (they are already fully 
integrated in Wales). Where this has happened, the result is a single unified 
partnership with a clear focus and investment to tackle crime and disorder, 
anti-social behaviour and substance misuse. Real benefits in terms of joint 
commissioning of initiatives have arisen.   We expect it also to secure the 
better involvement of health partners and encourage and support the 
engagement of the voluntary and community sector in partnership working.  In 
keeping with this broadening of their remit we intend formally to extend the 
role of CDRPs by placing a duty on responsible authorities to prevent 
and reduce crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour, behaviour 
adversely affecting the environment and substance misuse in their local 
area.  
 
Strategic decision making  
 
2.14     While we are clear that CDRPs and Drug (& Alcohol) Action Teams 
(DAATs)  need to integrate fully to improve their overall effectiveness, this is 
very difficult to achieve in two-tier areas, where they are sited at different 
levels. And the same geographical disconnection lies at the heart of many of 
the problems that CDRPs and LCJBs have encountered when it comes to 

                                                 
2 ‘Reducing Crime, the Home Office working with Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships’ – National Audit Office 

(December 2004) 

3 section 97(3) of the Police Reform Act 2002 

Page 31



 

 10

effective joint working – the sheer number of CDRPs with which the LCJBs 
need to collaborate mitigates against success. The review team considered 
this particular difficulty, and came up with a solution for two-tier areas based 
on the idea of separating the strategic responsibilities of CDRPs from those 
relating to operational delivery, placing the former at the county level. This is 
something that stakeholders involved in the review told us was already 
happening in some parts of the country, with positive results.   
 
2. 15    Broadly speaking, the review distinguished the two functions of 
CDRPs as shown in the box below. 
 
Functions of CDRPs  
STRATEGIC  
Identifying short, medium and long-term strategic priorities for community 
safety encompassing crime, anti-social behaviour, behaviour adversely 
affecting the environment and substance misuse.  

• Commissioning and considering regular strategic intelligence assessments 
informed by community consultation and engagement  

• Committing resources 

• Overseeing performance and removing barriers to performance 
improvement 

• Responsible for the interface between CDRPs and others with connected 
areas of responsibility (LCJBs, LSPs, DAATs, YOTs, CYPSPs, CTs and 
Police Authorities etc) 

 
OPERATIONAL  
• Translating high-level strategic priorities into local action plans for delivery  

• Key partners coming together on a more regular basis 

• Commissioning and considering day to day ‘operational’ intelligence 
assessments to identify immediate priorities for action 

• Commissioning community safety services and deploying resources – on 
either a locality or thematic basis     

• Performance and risk management of community safety services 
(In two-tier local authority areas, this operational function may need to be 
carried out at sub-county level with groups of district CDRPs working together 
or at county level depending on the nature of the priority to be addressed.  For 
example, a thematic group may be set up at county level to provide a strategic 
approach to tackling incidents of domestic violence across the whole area). 

 
We think that this distinction is right, and are greatly attracted to the notion 
that the performance of CDRPs/CSPs would be improved if they split their 
strategic and operational functions. So much so, in fact, that we have decided 

Page 32



 

 11

to go beyond the review team’s original proposal and require all CDRPs/CSPs 
to adopt this approach, not just those operating in two-tier areas.  
 
2.16  We are very mindful of the need to avoid creating new structures without 
good reason but also of the new dimension to the debate which LAAs have 
added. Given how important a role CDRPs have in the delivery of the 
LAA Safer and Stronger Communities block, we have decided that at 
least some of CDRPs’ key strategic functions, should, in future rest at 
the Local Strategic Partnership level, although the precise detail of the 
balance of responsibilities between the CDRP and the LSP will need to 
be considered further. This shift would fit with the fact that the Local 
Strategic Partnership already has a strategic co-ordinating role for the area - 
effectively LSPs act as the partnerships of all partnerships at a local level and 
in particular ensure a Community Strategy and LAA is produced and agreed 
by all parties.  We will be working closely with stakeholders to reflect in more 
detail through, for example, national standards how we expect CSPs/CDRPs 
to split their strategic and operational functions. 
 
2.17 In practice, this will mean that the responsibility will sit with the unitary 
LSP, and at the county level in two-tier areas. This will allow appropriate 
strategic links to be made with all the key players and initiatives locally, 
including LCJBs, DAATs , Youth Offending Teams and the relevant health 
service structures. Very importantly, it also makes quite clear the relationship 
between the CDRP and the LSP, which has been a source of some confusion 
locally until now.  
 
2.18   We recognise that there will be some concerns about the capacity at 
LSP level to take on this important new role. However, ODPM supports this 
broad approach as it fits with the overall role for the LSP established in their 
consultation ‘Local Strategic Partnerships: Shaping their future’, and we will 
work further on this with them as part of the follow up to the consultation 
document on the wider role of LSPs published on 8 December. 
 
Getting the right people around the partnership table 
 
2.19 In order for the strategic decision making and operational delivery 
functions of community safety to be successfully discharged, the right people 
need to be at the right partnership table at the right time.  We see two 
dimensions to this issue. The first is to be clear that the responsibilities of the 
individual partner agencies appropriately reflect their role in the delivery of 
safer communities. The second relates to the level at which those agencies 
should, ideally, be represented in the various phases of the work. 
 
2. 20     Taking agencies’ responsibilities first, there currently exists a  
‘hierarchy of participation’ which recognises that whilst many agencies and 
non statutory bodies including the business and voluntary and community 
sectors have a role to play in community safety locally, a handful of key 
agencies are ultimately accountable for delivery.  One of the findings of the 
review team was that Chief Officers of Fire and Rescue Services should be 
given the same “responsible authority” status as Chief Officers of Police, in 

Page 33



 

 12

recognition of the importance of their contribution. We absolutely agree that 
that their contribution is crucial, but our legal advice is that this 
recommendation cannot be implemented as intended because, unlike Chief 
Constables, Chief Fire Officers have no legal status independent of the 
authority they serve.  We will therefore use our proposed national 
standards for partnership working (see chapter 6 below) to make a 
formal statement of the role of Chief Fire Officers in the process, in order 
to underline the importance of the role they have to play.  
 
2.21 It is probably worth saying a word here in recognition of the challenges 
that Primary Care Trusts and other health services face in contributing to 
community safety through partnership.  Primary Care Trusts became 
responsible authorities on 1 April 2004 and although much progress has been 
made in the drugs arena, more needs to be done to ensure that health 
partners engage and communities reap the benefits of collaborative working.  
Health services themselves can derive much benefit from partnership working 
to improve community safety.  Investing in partnership work to reduce alcohol 
abuse and violent crime for example, will lead to reduced demand for local 
health services and thus release savings for reinvestment.   Despite the 
planned structural changes within the Health Service and the role of the 
Primary Care Trusts in providing local healthcare, it is vitally important for the 
role of health authorities to continue within the CDRP/CSP framework.   
 
2.22     Turning to the question of who should represent the individual 
agencies at what stages in the process, we recognise that this has always 
been left to local decision, and we do not intend to change that – although we 
will certainly want to discuss models with stakeholders as we develop and 
consult upon our proposed national standards for partnership working 
(see below). For example, it would seem clear that the local authority cabinet 
member with responsibility for community safety must be a member of the 
Local Strategic Partnership: it is at the LSP where the strategic decisions 
affecting CDRPs/CSPs will be made under our new model, and it is also here 
where the LAA is managed. Having the community safety portfolio holder fully 
engaged with these key processes will be essential. This issue was initially 
considered within the ODPM Consultation “Local Strategic Partnerships: 
shaping the future”.    
 
2.23      Finally, the Home Secretary wishes to reflect the rapidly changing 
nature of the wider partnership landscape – and the Government’s drive to 
reduce bureaucracy - by taking a power to extend the list of responsible 
authorities within the meaning of the 1998 Act by means of secondary 
rather than primary legislation. There may be occasions when this is 
needed in the future (for example, we are at a preliminary stage of discussion 
with DH officials about the possibility in relation to NHS Trusts) and secondary 
legislation represents a much simpler and faster way of achieving the same 
result. 

Page 34



 

 13

3 - DELIVERY 
 
Effective delivery relies on good decision making and good decisions are 
based on good information.  This section outlines the following proposals that 
were developed from the review findings: 
 
• Introducing intelligence led partnerships  
• Introducing annual 3 year rolling community safety plans  
• Improving information sharing  
 
 
Intelligence led, outcome focussed delivery  
 
3.1 In this section we set out our vision for delivery, both strategically and 
operationally.  The changes outlined here build on good practice identified 
during the process of the review.  At their heart lies the drive to provide a 
framework that will enable partnerships to be more responsive to the needs 
and concerns of local people.  To be responsive, CDRPs/CSPs need to be 
well informed about the crime, anti-social behaviour and substance misuse 
risks and problems in their area through the use of real time intelligence and 
data.   It is the use of this real time intelligence that should direct partnership 
activity both at a strategic level and at the level where strategic priorities are 
translated into action, at neighbourhood level.   
 
3.2 The changes outlined in this section set out a vision for an intelligence-
led, problem-solving and outcome oriented approach to community safety – 
enabling all partners to collaborate and target their efforts where they are 
most needed. By fully exploiting the data already collected by local agencies, 
we want CDRPs/CSPs to build and maintain an up-to-date, comprehensive 
picture of local community safety.  This intelligence can then be used to 
inform every aspect of partnership business; from how to prioritise and target 
resources, and balance swift enforcement with early intervention and longer 
term prevention, through performance and risk management, to when and 
where to focus intensive efforts to engage communities.   
 
3.3 To be genuinely responsive to what are often complex and multi-
faceted problems, agencies need to collaborate in different ways at different 
levels.  Long-term crime prevention measures require input at a strategic level 
from all those setting priorities for public services in a locality.  Similarly, the 
everyday maintenance of safety and security in a local area is dependent on a 
wide range of services and activities across the public, private, voluntary and 
community sectors.   
 
3.4 We believe that a responsive framework needs to be based on the 
aims and principles of the police National Intelligence Model (NIM).  NIM is a 
system for using intelligence and information to direct police activity enabling 
police forces to trace the continuum between anti-social behaviour and the 
most serious crime, and to identify those local issues most in need of 
attention.  It ensures that information is fully researched, developed and 
analysed to provide intelligence that senior managers can use to inform 

Page 35



 

 14

strategic direction, make tactical resourcing decisions about operational 
policing, and manage risk. 
 
3.5 Although the business processes of NIM may not always be directly 
transferable to a multi-agency environment, its principles and many of its 
practices are just as relevant.  There is a huge range of intelligence gathered, 
produced and retained by the many bodies operating within a locality.  
Brought together, this intelligence has the power to produce a much more 
focused assault on the drivers of crime, anti-social behaviour and substance 
misuse. 
 
3.6 Information-based problem-solving approaches to partnership working 
are nothing new; many areas already operate in this way. They provide a 
framework for every community across England and Wales, which provides 
sufficient flexibility to take account of local circumstances whilst providing a 
set of common standards for all. 
 
3.7 At the strategic level, intelligence led partnership working will mean 
more effective and co-ordinated strategic planning across partner agencies 
and with other local partnerships. Chief Officers of partner agencies will need 
to consider strategic intelligence assessments on a six-monthly basis, in order 
to set – and then review – the strategic priorities for the area.   These will 
include crime, victim and offender data, along with other relevant local 
profiling for the purposes of risk assessment and resource allocation and draw 
on softer intelligence generated through community consultation and 
engagement carried out at district and neighbourhood level.  We expect that 
partners working together at a strategic level will be able to make better 
informed decisions about where resources need to be deployed in order to 
make the biggest impact, and improve their performance and risk 
management processes.  For those designing and delivering services, it will 
support smarter responses to emerging problems and better targeting of 
resources – to enable maximum impact on the safety of the local 
environment.   
 
3.8 CDRP strategic priorities will be translated into action at the operational 
level by senior officers from the partnership agencies.  Senior officers with the 
authority to take decisions and deploy resources will commission and co-
ordinate the action required to secure delivery of the CDRP’s community 
safety priorities. 
 
3.9 In order to achieve all this we will adapt NIM to the partnership 
environment, and require (by means of national standards) its use by all 
those discharging the strategic or operational functions of community 
safety.   
 
Annual 3 year rolling community safety plans  
 
3.10 At present, CDRPs are required to carry out triennial audits of crime 
and disorder and drugs misuse and to implement strategies for tackling the 
problems these audits identify.  Three audit cycles have been completed 

Page 36



 

 15

since the Act was introduced in 1998 and they have been useful stand-alone 
assessments.  However, three year audits are also resource intensive and 
often now seen as a distraction from delivery, tying up key partnership staff for 
up to a year in their production.  The reality on the ground is that many 
partnerships are becoming increasingly performance focussed and 
intelligence-led; informed by real-time information and community intelligence. 
 
3.11 In place of the three yearly audits we believe CDRPs/CSPs should 
undertake regular strategic assessments, at least on a six monthly 
basis. This will need to tie in with the six monthly progress reports for 
Local Area Agreements to avoid duplication. This would be in keeping with 
the approach adopted by many well performing partnerships.   
 
3.12  With the lifting of this requirement, we also want to see a change in the 
way in which CDRPs/CSPs approach the development of their community 
safety strategies.  Many CDRPs/CSPs already review and revise their three 
year strategies on an annual basis to reflect shifting patterns of crime, anti-
social behaviour and substance misuse. We therefore intend to repeal the 
requirement for triennial audits and strategies, replacing this with a 
requirement for annual rolling three year community safety plans. These 
plans would be underpinned by the six-monthly strategic intelligence 
assessments and informed by consultation and engagement with 
communities. They will need to be firmly integrated with the Sustainable 
Community Strategy and Local Area Agreements as well as local thematic 
plans such as the Local Policing Plan, Local Area Agreements, the Youth 
Justice Plan and the Children and Young People Strategic Plan.  
 
Improving information sharing  
 
3.13 The intelligence-led framework for delivery described above relies on 
effective analysis and this in turn depends on the regular availability of good 
quality data.  However, we know that many stakeholders are frustrated by 
partners who do not always co-operate fully when approached with a request 
for information.  Uncertainty over what is legally permissible is, in many cases, 
inhibiting data sharing.  The issue is not just that legislation around data 
sharing can be misunderstood or misapplied.  There is also a sense that the 
law can be used as an excuse; sometimes held up to ‘justify’ an inherent 
reluctance to share information outside a particular agency, or for purposes 
that might not be that agency’s primary objective.   
 
3.14 The use and exchange of data identifying particular individuals are  – 
quite rightly – carefully controlled.  However, the same legislative restrictions 
do not apply when data do not refer to specific people or when they have 
been ‘cleansed’ to a point when individuals are no longer identifiable.  
Although much less problematic in terms of the legal framework, this kind of 
“depersonalised” information is still not always shared between agencies.   
 
3.15 Yet it is of critical importance to local partnerships, enabling them to 
carry out evidence-based, targeted community safety interventions and to 
evaluate their impact.  Routine profiling of key data sets is also vital for 

Page 37



 

 16

performance and risk management purposes.  The improved outcomes of an 
intelligence-led, problem solving approach to community safety can only be 
achieved when partners have access to a broad range of robust and up-to-
date information. 
 
3.16 To address these barriers, we intend to strengthen section 115 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act, which gives relevant agencies the power to 
disclose information, and place a duty on responsible authorities to 
share depersonalised data which are relevant for community safety 
purposes and already held in a depersonalised format. This duty will 
apply to data already collected by partner agencies in a depersonalised 
format.   
 
3.17 We also believe it is vital for every CDRP/CSP to have an information 
sharing protocol in place which formally sets out the principles of the 
partnership’s data sharing arrangements, detailing what will be exchanged, by 
whom, with whom, for what purposes and with which safeguards in place.  An 
effective and enabling framework for inter-agency data exchange would need 
to include a shared understanding of its limits, as well as what it permits.   We 
also want to ensure that, at the strategic decision making level, someone in 
each of the responsible authorities is given formal responsibility for facilitating 
data and information sharing across all partnership agencies. 
 
3.18 As set out above the Home Secretary wishes to be in a better position 
to reflect the rapidly changing nature of the wider partnership landscape and 
to this end will aim to take a power to extend the list of relevant authorities 
under Section 115 of the 1998 Act by means of secondary rather than 
primary legislation.  
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 

 17

4 – GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY  
 
Successful partnership working depends on good governance and 
accountability arrangements.  This section looks at how we are going to 
improve the democratic accountability and visibility of  partnerships whilst 
engaging local people in community safety initiatives:  
 
• Engaging local people in collective action to make their communities safer 
• Improving the visibility of CDRPs to local people 
• Getting the accountability arrangements right 
 
Engaging local people in collective action 
 
4.1 Community safety matters to local people.  For some people it is 
among the biggest concerns in their everyday life.  We want to transform that 
concern into action by providing local people with opportunities to get involved 
in initiatives and decision making by working through and with their local 
CDRP/CSP.  There are a number of benefits for partnerships in involving local 
people and communities in action to improve community safety.   Local 
residents probably understand their own problems better than service agency 
practitioners.  They can be very creative with ideas for tackling crime and 
disorder and improving community safety in their neighbourhoods.    
 
4.2 Community engagement is about actively involving citizens in 
improving their quality of life.  It can involve a wide variety of approaches.  For 
example, participation in focus groups through to participation in the 
governance or direct delivery of public services, including through public 
sector volunteering or Voluntary and Community Sector activity.   
CDRPs/CSPs have a strong tradition of involving their communities in 
community safety initiatives and under the Crime and Disorder Act are 
required to consult on the findings of their three year audits with a range of 
local agencies and local people.  We intend to build on this tradition and 
ensure that CDRPs consult and engage with their communities on a 
regular and ongoing basis.    
 
4.3 Under the framework for delivery described above, we envisage 
CDRPs undertaking regular strategic assessments based on real time data, 
including community intelligence.  CDRPs/CSPs will need to provide 
regular opportunities within this framework for delivery for local people 
to raise their concerns, in the knowledge that they will be listened to and 
their concerns addressed by local agencies. These proposals are about 
putting people at the heart of public services and passing more power, control 
and influence to local communities.   
 
4.4 In addition to collective action that mobilises communities to become 
involved in partnership led activity, CDRPs/CSPs also have a role to play in 
building the capacity of communities to take action that helps direct that 
activity.  For example: 
 

Page 39



 

 18

• involvement in joint tasking and co-ordination groups, where 
appropriate, to identify community priorities; 

• influencing the deployment of resources in a local area; 
• identifying incidents of anti-social behaviour and developing community 

based solutions to deal with it; and 
• influencing the type of unpaid or reparative work undertaken by 

offenders as part of community orders. 
 
Improving the visibility of CDRPs/CSPs to local people 
 
4.5 Involving local people in community based action to improve the safety 
of their neighbourhoods will strengthen accountability at local level. It will also 
help publicise and promote interest in the work of the partnership, thus 
increasing the visibility of partnership agencies and the services they deliver 
within their communities.   We are increasing the visibility of the police service 
in local areas with the introduction of our Neighbourhood Policing programme.  
By 2008 every area will benefit from dedicated neighbourhood policing teams.  
The public will know who their local officers are and how they can be 
contacted.  We want people to have a genuine say in their local policing and 
community safety priorities. As part of this work we want to involve local 
people in our arrangements for improving the accountability of the police and 
other agencies working in partnership within the communities they serve. This 
will also raise their profile and encourage greater communication. 
 
4.6 Under current arrangements CDRPs/CSPs are required to provide the 
Home Secretary with an annual report on the implementation of their three 
year strategies.  We know that in many areas, CDRPs/CSPs are already 
using a range of creative media to publish innovative reports for local people 
in order to communicate consistent messages about community safety issues. 
The Government believes that this practice should be universally adopted as 
it provides local people with information on the work of the partnership and the 
progress made towards making their communities safer.  We will therefore in 
future require CDRPs/CSPs to produce regular reports to their 
communities. The details of this will be set out in national standards 
after further consultation with stakeholders. These reports will need to be 
considered as part of the LSP’s overall communication strategy to avoid 
duplication. 
 
4.7 The principles of citizen engagement, local responsiveness and 
customer service lie at the heart of the Government’s programmes of police, 
local government and criminal justice reform.  Local people need to 
understand how local agencies are working together to build safer and 
stronger communities and be able to use this information to make balanced 
judgements about local priorities.  In respect of local policing information we 
have introduced a provision in the Serious Organised Crime and Police Act 
2005 that Police Authorities must provide information to households in the 
authority’s area on matters relating to the policing of the area.  We want 
partnerships to achieve a significant level of visibility within their communities 
and to this end have encouraged police authorities through guidance to 
consider additionally producing information with a partnership dimension 

Page 40



 

 19

wherever possible.  We want CDRP/CSP partners to collaborate to achieve 
this aim so that as a matter of course local people can expect regular 
information on the partnership’s community safety activities.  We will work 
with stakeholders to consider the practicalities of this as we develop the 
national standards. 
 
4.8 We are convinced that the public should know what community safety 
priorities are being delivered by partnerships and how they are performing in 
order to hold these agencies to account.  However, we do not believe that 
there is any value in retaining a requirement for CDRPs to send a 
separate report on their annual performance to the Home Secretary.  We 
have introduced internal performance management arrangements whereby 
the Home Office Regional Directors in the Government Offices for the 
Regions performance manage their local partnerships, working closely with 
them to develop robust performance management systems that allow for 
effective monitoring of local delivery. These arrangements are intended to 
strengthen the accountability of partnerships in delivering reductions in crime, 
anti-social behaviour and misuse of drugs and we believe negate the need for 
separate reporting arrangements to the Home Secretary by way of an annual 
report. 
 
4.9 Also relevant here is the Government’s 4 Respect Action Plan 
(launched on 10 January 2006). This states that in future senior 
representatives of CDRPs will be expected to hold regular ”face the people” 
briefings. This is essentially question and answer sessions open to the public, 
media and community groups. We will work this requirement into our 
proposed National Standards (see Chapter 6 below), and will consult with key 
stakeholders on the details as that work progresses. 
 
Improving democratic accountability arrangements  
 
4.10 Increasing opportunities for communities to have both a voice and a 
role in community safety is an essential prerequisite for holding to account 
those who are responsible for tackling crime and disorder in a local area. We 
will be introducing a mechanism (the ‘Community Call for Action’), as outlined 
in the White Paper Building Communities, Beating Crime, whereby 
communities can secure a response from the police and their partners to a 
community safety issue that has not been adequately addressed.  We are 
clear that ward councillors should have a key role in the process, so that the 
route to getting a response from the relevant agencies for local people will be 
through an approach to their ward councillor.  We see a role for local authority 
scrutiny committees in looking at particularly difficult cases which cannot be 
resolved through the informal mechanisms which exist between the ward 
councillor and local partners.  
 
4.11 Whilst we expect that the Community Call for Action will be a remedy of 
last resort, we are nevertheless clear that local councillors will need to play a 
central role in the dialogue between local agencies and local people. Many 

                                                 
4  Chapter  6, Page 28 RESPECT Action Plan published by COI on behalf of Respect Task Force 

Page 41



 

 20

local councillors already work closely with community safety agencies at 
neighbourhood level and as leaders of and advocates for their communities, 
are uniquely placed to act as a conduit at neighbourhood level for relaying 
local concerns to community safety partner agencies. They are equally well 
placed to encourage local people to get involved in neighbourhood 
governance. In so doing they can help inform decisions over local community 
safety priorities and help to mobilise local action.  
 
4.12 Within the framework set out in chapters 2 and 3, we believe the active 
involvement of elected members in community safety to be equally important 
at both neighbourhood and strategic levels.  We want to build on this and 
reinforce local democratic accountability for community safety by bedding 
community safety arrangements firmly into local democratic processes.  
 
4.13 Our proposals for separating out CDRPs’ strategic and operational 
functions (Chapter 2)  requires that in unitary and two-tier areas, local 
authority cabinet members with the portfolio for community safety should sit 
on the Local Strategic Partnership which owns the LAA. We will ensure that 
the portfolio holder’s participation in the CDRP strategic decision 
making process is mandatory. This will: 
 

• provide a direct link between the heart of the council’s leadership and 
strategic community safety decision making processes; and 

 
• ensure that chief officers of council services are held to account for 

those contributions; 
.  

4.14 We also set out in chapter 2 the expectation that district level CDRPs 
will in conjunction with the Home Office Regional Director for the area, 
consider carefully the merits of formally merging with other CDRPs. Where 
mergers do occur we will expect all the district portfolio holders to be 
involved in the newly merged CDRP. 
 
4.15 In addition to the involvement of community safety portfolio holders in 
strategic decision making, back bench scrutiny committees will play a key role 
as part of the checks and balances necessary to hold community safety 
decision makers to account for the delivery of local priorities. Scrutiny 
Committees currently have the ability to co-opt people who are not 
councillors, summon members of the council executive and officers of the 
authority to answer questions, and invite other people to attend meetings to 
give their views or submit evidence. This, along with the opportunity for the 
public to be directly involved, positions them well to tackle complex and cross 
cutting issues and support partnership working.  We know that with the co-
operation of local partners reviews have already been undertaken by a 
number of councils and that this has resulted in changes in the way services 
are delivered, with tangible benefits for local people. 
 
4.16 However, the Audit Commission and others have highlighted a mixed 
picture of progress made by local government. Consultation with stakeholders 
during the course of the CDA review showed that some partners have 

Page 42



 

 21

concerns about more assessment while others express fears that placing a 
duty to co-operate on the police could result in interference with the detail of 
the day to day management of policing operations. We believe that with 
political will and mutual respect these concerns can be overcome. A form of 
“scrutiny plus” involving members of Police and Fire Authorities and Primary 
Care Trust Boards would bring a breadth and balance to the process allowing 
scrutiny committees better to reflect the cross cutting, multi-agency nature of 
much community safety work.  A precedent for this already exists in relation to 
the health service where the Health and Social Care Act 2001 extended the 
functions of scrutiny committees so as to enable them to review and scrutinise 
matters relating to the health service in the local authority’s area.  We 
therefore intend to extend the powers of local authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees to encompass the work of CDRPs/CSPs. The wider 
extension of scrutiny powers is considered within the ODPM Consultation 
“Local Strategic Partnerships: shaping the future” and will be developed as 
part of the Local Government White Paper and draft LSP Guidance during 
Summer 2006.   
 
4.17 We propose that if the scrutiny committee concludes that partnership 
action is necessary, as in the case of the mechanism for triggering action on 
specific issues, then the relevant community safety partners would have a 
duty to consider the recommendations and report back to the scrutiny 
committee on action that has been or will be taken, or on the reasons for 
deciding that action cannot be taken.  The relevant partners would be under 
an additional duty to explain any decision not to take action at the next 
scrutiny committee meeting.   

 
4.18  The police reform agenda will mean that the creation of larger forces 
will require police authorities to take a more strategic view when discharging 
their functions. Concerns have been expressed that this may lead to strategic 
forces and authorities being remote from communities at a neighbourhood 
and district level.  We believe that the measures set out above for improving 
democratic accountability of all CDRP partners, including BCU Commanders, 
together with the introduction of neighbourhood policing across the country 
and the ‘Community Call for Action’ (set out in the Respect Action Plan) will 
allay such concerns.  BCU Commanders, alongside other responsible 
authorities, would be answerable to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
their contribution to the delivery of local community safety priorities as detailed 
above. The police authority would be co-opted to sit on the committee to 
ensure that they play a role in ensuring local policing priorities are reflected at 
a more strategic level and vice-versa.  
 

Page 43



 

 22

5 – MAINSTREAMING 
 
This section outlines what more needs to be done to ensure agencies 
mainstream crime reduction and community safety considerations in the 
delivery of all their services: 
 
• Broadening the definition of section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
• Extending mainstreaming to additional agencies  

 
Broadening the definition of section 17 
 
5.1 It is clear that there has been a steady improvement in the delivery of 
local crime and disorder reduction partnerships since 1998.  However, 
partnerships continue to face real challenges not least of which is the 
challenge agencies face in mainstreaming community safety within their core 
activities.   
 
5.2 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on those 
organisations that fall within its ambit5 to do all they reasonably can to prevent 
crime and disorder in their area.  Its underpinning rationale is simple: levels of 
crime and disorder are influenced by the policies, decisions and practices of 
agencies and organisations working in a locality. Thus, specified 
organisations should routinely consider the implications for crime and disorder 
as they carry out their day-to-day business.  
 
5.3 We believe that section 17 should be the principle vehicle for 
mainstreaming community safety in key local agencies.  We expect the 
agencies to which the legislation applies to build crime and disorder 
considerations into their governance and decision making processes: policies, 
strategies, plans, budgets and the delivery of key services must all be 
considered for their contribution to preventing and reducing crime and 
associated problems. 
 
5.4 However, given the range of community safety considerations that 
agencies now tackle in partnership as a matter of course, we believe that the 
time has come formally to broaden the definition of section 17 so that 
agencies take account not just of crime and disorder but also of anti-
social behaviour, behaviour adversely affecting the environment and 
substance misuse. 
 
Extending mainstreaming to additional agencies 
 
5.5 Section 17 complements local authorities’ responsibilities under Part 1 
of the Local Government Act 2000 to promote the economic, environmental 
and social well being of the communities they serve. Their community 
leadership role and the wide range of local services they provide makes them 

                                                 
5 Local Authorities, Police, National Park Authorities, the Broads Authority and following the Police Reform Act 2002, 

Police Authorities and Fire Authorities. 

Page 44



 

 23

ideally placed to impact on the socio-economic and environmental drivers for 
crime. Through education, health and social care, children’s services, 
housing, transport, planning and other community based services, an 
increasing number of councils are addressing the implications of section 17 
and taking action to implement it.  Some councils have used the best value 
review process to good effect to examine and make changes to the way they 
deliver key services in light of their effect on local crime and disorder and the 
fear associated with it. 
 
5.6  Although most organisations have made some progress with 
mainstreaming, compliance with section 17 remains inconsistent across the 
board. This is something that we want to address.  Mainstreaming means 
more than simply changing procedures.  It requires a change in culture to a 
mindset that involves understanding what matters most to local people and 
careful thought about how everyday practices can be organised to make a full 
contribution to improving community safety.   We have already taken steps to 
ensure that all top tier councils embed community safety into the culture of 
their organisations through the inclusion of a particular focus on section 17 
compliance within the Safer and Stronger Communities element of the 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) 2005.  There are 
encouraging signs that this is already changing behaviour in councils.   
 
5.7 Equally, the addition of Police Authorities and Fire Authorities as CDRP 
responsible authorities introduced in the Police Reform Act 2002 has brought 
their section 17 responsibilities into much sharper focus.   
 
5.8 Whilst the Police Reform Act 2002 extended the provisions of section 
17 to Police Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities, it was not similarly 
extended to other agencies with a significant contribution to community safety.  
In order to ensure that future additions can be made to the list of agencies to 
which section 17 applies with the minimum bureaucracy, the Home Secretary 
intends to take a power to add to the list of responsible authorities by 
means of secondary legislation, in line with the proposal in respect of 
adding to the list of responsible authorities discussed in Chapter 2.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



 

 24

 
6 – NATIONAL STANDARDS 
 
Effective partnership working relies on clarity between agencies about their 
individual contributions and roles and responsibilities within the partnership.  
This section sets out how we will for provide clarity for agencies through a set 
of National Standards for partnership working 
 
6.1 The proposals in this paper set out why we believe changes need to be 
made to improve the effectiveness of CDRPs/CSPs and how we think these 
improvements can be achieved.  There will be a need for some legislative 
changes to make a reality of these proposals, but we also believe that much 
change can be realised if partner agencies are clear about their individual 
contributions and roles and responsibilities within the partnership.   
 
6.2 When the Crime and Disorder Act initially came into effect in 1998, the 
accompanying guidance was intended to provide a broad enough framework 
for agencies in different areas and with different problems to develop their 
own ways of working together to tackle crime and disorder.  We believe this is 
still right. However, during the intervening eight years, it has become 
increasingly apparent that a broad set of principles or standards are needed 
to clarify what is expected of agencies in partnership, whilst not prescribing 
how they meet these standards.  We believe it is central government’s job to 
set the framework within which agencies need to work together in partnership 
whilst not prescribing the way in which they work within that framework at 
local level.   
 
6.3 We therefore believe that the case has now been made for a set of 
national standards for community safety partnership working.  These 
national standards, compliance with which will be compulsory,  will cover a 
number of key areas of partnership activity that have been identified by 
commentators, including HMIC6 and the Audit Commission7 as critical factors 
for successful partnership working since the introduction of the Act in 1998.   
 
6.4 For example, successive reports (some referred to in this paper) have 
highlighted the importance of strong, committed leadership as a defining 
characteristic of successful partnerships. This is as relevant to the political 
contribution to community safety work as it is to the managerial leadership 
provided by partner agencies.  Feedback from stakeholders during the course 
of our review of the CDA points to lack of consistent engagement from some 
key agencies and inappropriate levels of representation with delegation of 
responsibility for attendance at partnership meetings to officers who lack the 
seniority to take decisions and commit resources on behalf of their 
organisations. This inhibits partnerships’ ability to fulfil their full potential and 

                                                 
6 Calling Time on Crime – A Thematic Inspection on Crime and Disorder conducted by HMIC, Home Office (July 

2000) 

7 Community Safety Partnerships – AC Knowledge – Learning from Audit, Inspection and Research, Audit 

Commission (2002) 

Page 46



 

 25

undermines the added value for communities that true collaboration can 
provide.  
 
6.5 We want to ensure that all key local agencies commit energy and 
resources to community safety. This means securing the leadership and 
active involvement of Chief Officers of all partner agencies with the 
introduction of National Standards which will spell out the contribution of 
senior officers, as described in previous chapters.  In line with the 
Government’s wider policy of devolution and delegation, we do not propose to 
prescribe how they do this but the standards will set out clearly what we 
expect of them. 
 
6.6 These key areas include: 

• their role in the implementation of a NIM framework to:  
o produce annual three year rolling plans 
o undertake regular strategic assessments 
o use intelligence led problem-solving approach to support 

business processes such as performance, risk and financial 
management  (described in chapter 3); 

• the benefits of engaging communities in crime and anti-social 
behaviour prevention and reduction (described in chapters 3 and 4); 

• clarity around the roles and responsibilities of partner agency chief 
officers in providing leadership and strategic direction for the 
partnership at county, district and unitary level (described in chapter 
2);  

• ensuring their organisation’s compliance with section 17 (described 
in chapter 5); 

• clarity around inter-agency, and local democratic governance and 
accountability arrangements (described in chapter 4); and  

• the principles that govern information sharing such as information 
sharing protocols (described in chapter 3). 

 
6.7 These National Standards will be developed in partnership with 
stakeholders such as practitioner bodies, Government Offices and national 
bodies such as ACPO, APA, LGA, CFOA and the NHS Confederation, and 
will set out how we expect CDRPs to use real time intelligence, including hard 
data such as crime and substance misuse statistics as well as community 
intelligence to identify short, medium and long term priorities for the 
partnership.  We will set out the roles and responsibilities of individual partner 
agencies and chief officers and the standards of good governance we expect 
them to achieve.  In two-tier areas of local government, compliance with 
National Standards will be partly founded on collaboration between CDRPs at 
district level and the strategic CDRP at county level, in support of joint county-
wide strategic analysis and priority setting.   
 
6.8 The Morgan Report8 defined community safety ‘as having both social 
and situational aspects, as being concerned with people, communities and 
                                                 
8 Morgan, J – Safer communities: the local delivery of crime prevention through the partnership approach – Home 

Office, Crime Prevention Unit (1991)  

Page 47



 

 26

organisations including families, victims and at risk groups, as well as with 
attempting to reduce particular types of crime and the fear of crime.’  Many 
partnerships have been making a reality of this interpretation for some time, 
and in Wales local partnerships, known as Community Safety Partnerships, 
have been tackling crime and disorder and substance abuse issues since 
2003. We intend to use national standards to respond to what is already 
happening on the ground by consulting with stakeholders on adopting a 
new name for English partnerships that better reflects this wider remit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7 – CONCLUSION 
 
7.1  A number of the proposals in this findings report will require new - or 
amendments to existing - legislation. The Police and Justice Bill (just 

                                                                                                                                            
 

Page 48



 

 27

introduced in Parliament) will be the vehicle for these changes. The Bill will 
make communities safer by driving forward the police reform programme and 
the Prime Minister’s Respect agenda. The legislative timetable will mean that 
Royal Assent is likely to be sought in the autumn of 2006, with implementation 
of the measures following thereafter. 
 
7.2 In the meantime we will be working with stakeholders to develop the 
national standards that will allow for the legislative changes and some other 
changes set out in this report to be delivered by CDRPs/CSPs. Our aim will 
be to develop the tools that partnerships will need to help them implement 
these proposals effectively and get the most from them. We will continue to 
work on those elements of the findings that do not require legislation and/or 
national standards, for example encouraging further CDRP mergers where 
appropriate.    
 
7.3 The review has been a hugely productive piece of work that will impact 
positively on the effectiveness of partnerships across England and Wales at a 
time when police reform and changes to local government are helping to 
shape the delivery landscape. We would like to thank all those who have 
taken part and dedicated so much time and effort to help shape our vision for 
the future of partnership working.  
 
7. 4      Questions about the findings of this report should be directed to 
cdareview@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk 
 
 
 
Home Office 
January 2006  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
List of organisations represented on the CDA Review Advisory Group 
and Thematic Core Groups 
 

Page 49



 

 28

Local Government Association 
Association of Chief Police Officers    
Association of Police Authorities  
National Community Safety Network   
Audit Commission       
Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 
Birmingham City Council 
Chichester District Council 
Chief Fire Officers’ Association    
Crawley District Council 
Department of Health      
Durham Constabulary 
Federation of Small Businesses 
Grimsby Drug Intervention Programme 
High Five Consultants       
Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary   
Home Office  
International Centre for Comparative Criminological Research, Open 
University 
Jill Dando Institute    
London Borough of Bexley 
National Association of Local Councils 
Newham Youth Offending Team 
North East Lincolnshire PCT    
Northumberland County Council 
Office of the Deputy Prime Minister 
Office of Criminal Justice Reform 
Police Superintendents’ Association     
Prime Ministers Delivery Unit 
Solihull Council 
South Yorkshire Probation 
Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council  
Teignbridge District Council 
University of Leeds  
Welsh Local Government Association  
West Sussex County Council 
Youth Justice Board  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 

 29

 
 
 
 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

 
Frequently Asked Questions: Crime and Disorder Act Review 
 
The Crime and Disorder Act (CDA) Review 
 
When was the review conducted? 
A review of the partnership provisions of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
was carried out between November 2004 and January 2005. 
 
Who conducted the review? 
The review was carried out by the Home Office, the Local Government 
Association, the Association of Chief Police Officers and the Association of 
Police Authorities. 
 
Who was consulted in the course of the review? 
Over 450 key stakeholders and practitioners attended four regional seminars 
held towards the end of 2004, and many contributed through e-questionnaires 
and submissions. Representatives of other key central Government 
departments were also involved. 
 
What were the aims of the review? 
The Government’s overall objective in carrying out the review was to 
strengthen the visibility, responsiveness, membership and role of local 
partnerships.  The aim is to make them the most effective possible vehicle for 
tackling crime, anti-social behaviour and substance misuse at a local level.   
 
The partnership landscape has changed substantially since Crime & Disorder 
Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) were first created. This, coupled with the 
introduction of Local Area Agreements and the changing role of local 
government, presents new challenges for CDRPs and Community Safety 
Partnerships (CSPs). Changes in the Criminal Justice System and the 
delivery of the police reform agenda will also impact on how CDRPs/CSPs do 
business. The review will help to ensure that all CDRPs/CSPs are in the best 
position to adapt to a changing delivery landscape and meet new challenges.    
 
What were the findings of the review? 
The review findings were published in January 2006 and are available on the 
Crime Reduction Website (www.crimereduction.gov.uk/partnerships60.htm).  
The findings are presented under five main headings: Structures, Delivery, 
Governance & Accountability, Mainstreaming and National Standards. 
 
What are the key proposals? 
The findings of the Crime and Disorder Act Review proposed that a number of 
changes to partnership working could to improve the effectiveness of Crime 
and Disorder Reduction Partnerships and Community Safety Partnerships.  
These proposals are summarised at Annex B. 
 
What is the Police and Justice Bill? 
The Police and Justice Bill received its first reading on 25th January 2006 and 
proceeded through the House of Commons Committee Stage in the week 

Page 53



 2

commencing 20th March.  The Bill contains a number of measures intended to 
make CDRPs the most effective possible vehicle for tackling crime, disorder, 
the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances, anti-social behaviour and 
behaviour adversely affecting the environment.  These measures have arisen 
from the findings of the CDA Review. The legislative proposals include: 
 amending the existing requirement on CDRPs to undertake three 

yearly audits and develop three year strategies, requiring them instead 
to produce an annual three year rolling plan and six monthly strategic 
assessments (to be covered by National Standards – see below); 

 
 repealing the requirement on CDRPs to provide an annual report to the 

Home Secretary; 
 
 placing a duty on named agencies to share aggregate, depersonalised 

data, when doing so is in the interest of preventing crime, disorder and 
substance misuse (the Act currently provides only a power to share the 
data); 

 
 extending the list of agencies that share such data to encompass all 

CDRP “responsible authorities”. In practice, this means adding Fire and 
Rescue Authorities to the list; 

 
 introducing an order making power to vary the list of agencies that are 

listed under listed as relevant authorities for information sharing 
purposes; 

 
 requiring agencies to mainstream consideration of anti-social 

behaviour, behaviour adversely affecting the environment and 
substance misuse, as well as crime and disorder (of which they are 
already obliged to take account); 

 
 introducing an order making power to vary the list of agencies that are 

required to mainstream consideration of such matters; 
 
 introducing an order making power to allow the alteration of the list of 

“responsible authorities” that comprise CDRPs; 
 
 taking a new power to define national standards for partnership 

working with which CDRPs will be required to comply; 
 
 extending the powers of local authority scrutiny committees to include 

scrutiny of CDRPs. 
 
What is the likely timetable for the Bill? 
The legislative timetable for the Bill means that Royal Assent is likely to be 
sought in late Autumn 2006, with implementation of the proposed measures 
stemming from the CDA review following thereafter. 
 
When are these proposals to be rolled out? 

Page 54



 3

The timetable for rollout of the changes has not yet been finalised. The new 
provisions will not be rolled out until the legislative changes contained in the 
Police & Justice Bill have gained Royal Assent. In preparation, the detailed 
scope and content of specific proposals emanating from the review (see 
below) are to be worked up over the coming months in consultation with 
stakeholders. 
 
How can CDRPs, DATs, Youth Offending Teams, Local Criminal Justice 
Boards and their partners get involved? 
The Community Safety and Local Government Unit, in collaboration with the 
Government Offices for the Regions and the Welsh Assembly Government, 
will be holding a series of regional consultation workshops in the early 
Summer 2006 to discuss the proposals with stakeholders.  All CDRPs and 
Drug Action Teams/Drug and Alcohol Reduction Teams will be invited to 
attend these events.  Representatives from LCJBs and YOTs will also be 
welcome.  Details will be circulated in the coming weeks.    
 
This is an on-going consultation process and we would encourage 
stakeholders to share their comments with us through the CDA Review e-mail 
address: cdareview@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk 
 
CDA Review: Specific Proposals Q & A 
 
Structures  
 
Why do the CDRP’s strategic functions need to sit at Local Strategic 
Partnership (LSP) level rather than elsewhere? 
The Police and Justice Bill will be introduced in a crime reduction landscape 
that is very different to that of 1998 when CDRPs were first introduced.  
Specifically the local landscape has been changed and improved through the 
arrival of Local Criminal Justice Boards, Local Area Agreements and Local 
Strategic Partnerships.  For this reason, with particular reference to the LSP 
role and the important role CDRPs have to play in the delivery of the LAA 
Safer and Stronger Communities Block, we believe that key strategic 
functions of CDRPs should in future rest at the top tier Local Strategic 
Partnership level.  The details of how this will work in practice will be subject 
to consultation through the stakeholder events over the summer.  
 
How will this split work in two-tier areas? 
This will be subject to further consultation with stakeholders at the regional 
events in Summer 2006. 
 
Delivery 
 
Why does the duty to share depersonalised information not extend to all 
information that is needed for crime and disorder purposes? 
The use and exchange of data identifying particular individuals is, quite rightly, 
carefully controlled.  But the same legislative restrictions do not apply when 
data does not refer to specific people or when it has been ‘cleansed’ to a point 
when individuals are no longer identifiable.  Although much less problematic 

Page 55



 4

in terms of the legal framework, this kind of “depersonalised” information is 
still not always shared between agencies, and it is this data that should be 
shared freely among partners in a CDRP.  By extending section 115 to a duty 
to share information, as opposed to a power, we believe that information 
sharing between responsible authorities will be increased and strengthened, 
with resulting benefit to local community safety. 
 
How will the proposals around improved delivery work? In particular 
strengthening section 115 (data sharing) of the CDA by placing a duty 
on responsible authorities to share depersonalised data? 
The proposals within the CDA Review and the Police and Justice Bill aim to 
streamline and improve delivery by CDRPs. The proposals aim to do this is 
by, amongst other things, improving information sharing between the 
responsible authorities within partnerships.  We are proposing to do this in two 
ways.  Firstly by strengthening section 115 of the CDA 1998 to create a duty 
to share depersonalised data that is already held in this format, and secondly 
by using the National Standards guidance to require all CDRPs to have 
information-sharing protocols agreed by all partners.  The details of these 
information-sharing protocols and what depersonalised information should be 
covered by the new duty will be subject to further consultation at the regional 
events. 
 
Governance and Accountability 
 
Who will lead on overview and scrutiny in areas where two tier 
authorities exist? 
Overview and Scrutiny will most likely already exist at both the County and 
District level. The detail around the exact role of County and District 
Committees will be subject to discussion at the stakeholder events and will be 
linked to the discussions around the strategic and operational split of CDRP 
functions.  
 
The Bill introduces provisions for local government areas that share a CDRP 
(in merged CDRP areas), to set up joint-scrutiny arrangements.  
 
The CDA Review Findings Report says that police authorities will be co-
opted onto Overview and Scrutiny committees - how will this work? 
Although details will be included in the regulations - one very viable option 
mentioned in the Findings Review is to co-opt the Police Authority to sit with 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee when it is looking at the CDRP’s work. 
It is proposed to give the Home Secretary the power to designate who should 
be co-opted to sit with the Committee in the Police and Justice Bill. 
 
How will the proposals contained within the Bill affect local people? 
The measures outlined within the Police and Justice Bill emphasise the 
responsibilities of CDRPs to engage and empower local people.  The detail of 
community engagement will be set out through guidance, to be contained 
within the National Standards, which will set out the requirement on CDRPs to 
provide regular reports to local people. This includes ‘Face the People’ 
sessions as set out in the RESPECT Action Plan.   The RESPECT Action 

Page 56



 5

Plan is available to view and download on the Home Office Website 
(http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/documents/respect-action-plan).  
 
The Community Call for Action will empower local people by enabling local 
communities to hold the police, local authorities and their partners to account 
if they have failed to deal effectively with a community safety problem in their 
local area. Details of how these measures will take effect, and the specific 
responsibilities of the CDRP, the individual CDRP partners, officers and Local 
Authority elected members will be provided prior to their  implementation. This 
will be subject to more detailed discussion at the stakeholder events. 
 
Mainstreaming 
 
How do these measures alter the current arrangements regarding 
mainstreaming? 
The proposals within the Police and Justice Bill broaden the definition on 
section 17 so that agencies take account of not just crime and disorder, but 
also the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances, anti-social behaviour 
and behaviour adversely affecting the environment.  Measures within the Bill 
also provide the appropriate national authority with the power to add to the list 
of responsible authorities by the means of secondary legislation.   
 
Guidance regarding mainstreaming will be included within national standards. 
 
National Standards 
 
Why is there a need for national standards? Isn’t this simply adding 
more bureaucracy and detracting from front line delivery? 
During the eight years since the CDA 1998, it has become increasingly 
apparent, largely through stakeholder feedback, that a broad set of principles 
or standards are needed to clarify what is expected of agencies when working 
in partnership.  The National Standards will be expected to provide this, whilst 
still allowing partnerships a degree of autonomy in how they work. 
 

What will be covered by the national standards? 
Within the framework of regulations to be known as National Standards the 
appropriate national authority may make regulations making further provision 
in connection with the formulation, implementation and review of partnerships’ 
strategies.  The intention is for the National Standards to set out clearly 
understood minimum standards for the way that CDRP/CSPs conduct their 
business of delivering safer communities.  Regulations within this framework 
will be subject to consultation with stakeholders in the coming months, and 
amongst other things, will compel CDRPs to: 
 implement a NIM framework  
 produce annual three year rolling plans 
 undertake regular strategic assessments 
 use intelligence led problem-solving approach to support business 

processes such as performance, risk and financial management ; 
 take account of the information sharing reforms set out in the new 

section 17A and the amendments to section 115. 

Page 57



 6

 engage communities in crime and disorder, misuse of drugs and anti-
social behaviour prevention and reduction ; 

 achieve clarity around inter-agency, and local democratic governance 
and accountability arrangements  

 recognise the principles that govern information sharing by developing 
and implementing information sharing protocols. 

 
How will the Police National Intelligence Model be applied to 
partnerships? 
The National Intelligence Model (NIM) provides a framework that, applied 
sensibly, will bring benefits to effective CDRP working. It is likely that the 
model will have to be adapted before it can successfully be applied to 
partnerships.  The Community Safety and Local Government Unit are 
currently working with stakeholders and stakeholder organisations to outline 
how the NIM might be best adapted for the partnership environment.  
Stakeholders will be able to discuss this in more detail at the regional 
consultation workshops in the Summer. 
 
 
 
 
 
Home Office 
Community Safety & Local Government Unit. 
March 2006 
 

Page 58


